03/16/2020

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 19-0682

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 19-0682

JACK KRAMER and KEN KRAMER, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs and Appellees,

v.

FERGUS FARM MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant and Appellant.

.....

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Thirteenth Judicial District Court, Yellowstone County
Cause No. DV-19-0360
The Honorable Michael G. Moses, Presiding

Sean M. Morris

Christopher L. Decker
BOONE KARLBERG P.C.
201 West Main, Suite 300
P.O. Box 9199
Missoula, MT 59807-9199
Tel: (406) 543-6646
Fax: (406) 549-6804

Matthew B. Hayhurst

INTRODUCTION

This case involves coverage for General Contractor Overhead and Profit ("GCOP") under a farm mutual insurance policy. The case law on class certification in GCOP cases is in clear and uniform: When GCOP is determined case-by-case, as is the practice for Fergus Farm Mutual Insurance Company ("FFM"), certification is <u>not</u> appropriate. This case represents the first time any court, to FFM's knowledge, has diverged from this uniform authority and reached a different conclusion.

The District Court's certification is more unusual because FFM paid GCOP whenever a general contractor would be reasonably necessary, and also paid GCOP actually incurred by insureds even if a general contractor was <u>not</u> reasonably necessary. FFM simply required documentation confirming the expense was actually incurred for general contractor services and was not fraudulent.

In this case, Plaintiffs/Appellees Jack and Ken Kramer (collectively, "Kramers") hired a general contractor with a history of "storm-chasing" and fraudulent practices to conduct repairs after their simple hail loss. Specifically, the Montana Insurance Commissioner found the same contractor, in another case, "primarily provided false or misleading subcontractor invoices in order to receive additional funds (such as overhead and profit) from insurance claims." (*FFM's*

Brief in Response to Pls.' Motion for Rule 23(b)(3) Class Certification, CR 11, Ex. G, Ex. B p. 1.) Despite this, and despite the fact that a general contractor was not reasonably necessary on the Kramers' repair job, FFM was prepared to pay GCOP actually incurred upon the submission of subcontractor receipts. The Kramers refused to provide the information. They filed this lawsuit instead.

When the District Court granted class certification, it diverged from uniform authority and identified two "predominate" questions that were not submitted by the Kramers and which are not legitimately at issue. It also overlooked evidence that class certification would necessitate hundreds of mini-trials, contrary to certification's overriding goal to promote economy and efficiency. The District Court abused its discretion by granting the Kramers' Motion for Rule 23(b)(3) Class Certification and should be reversed.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Did the District Court abuse its discretion by certifying the proposed classes, when questions affecting individual class members predominate over common questions and resolution as a class action would be impractical?
- 2. Did the District Court abuse its discretion by basing its Rule 23 analysis on clearly erroneous findings of fact and incorrect conclusions of law?
 Specifically:

- Did the District Court commit clear error in finding emails may constitute evidence that FFM in fact applies the three-trade rule?
- Did the District Court commit clear error in finding FFM's practices may not conform to those of other Montana insurers?
- Did the District Court err in finding the reasonably necessary standard does not apply in determining whether GCOP is payable in advance of repairs?
- Did the District Court err in finding the Policy ambiguous by relying on provisions that set forth limits for different coverages and did not apply to the Kramers' loss?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Kramers filed this action on March 28, 2019, bringing claims against FFM for breach of contract and violations of the Montana Unfair Trade Practices Act, Mont. Code Ann. § 33-18-201, *et seq.* ("UTPA"). (*Class Action Complaint*, CR 1, ¶ 54.) The District Court granted class certification on November 21, 2019. (*Order Re: Motion for Rule 23(b)(3) Class Certification*, App. 1-22.) FFM filed its Notice of Appeal on December 3, 2019. (CR 17.)

FACTS

The case arises from hail damage to three buildings (a house, detached garage and small shed) owned by the Kramers. (CR 11, p. 2.) At the time of the

loss—May 21, 2016—the buildings were covered by an FFM insurance policy ("Policy"). (CR 11, Ex. A.) The Policy provided property coverage, in pertinent part, for "Farmowner Dwelling," "Detached Garage—Broad," and "Small Shed—Basic." (CR 11, Ex. A at 167.)

A. The Policy's Loss Settlement Provisions

The Policy required FFM to pay the Actual Cash Value ("ACV") of the loss in advance of repairs. ACV is defined in relevant part as "the cost to repair or replace the property with materials of like kind and quality to the extent practical," with a deduction for depreciation. (CR 11, Ex. A at 183.) The insured is entitled to this payment whether or not repairs are performed. (CR 11, Ex. A at 183.)

If the insured elected to go forward with repairs, and the structure has Replacement Cost coverage, FFM paid the remaining difference between ACV and the Replacement Cost Value ("RCV"). (CR 11, Ex. A at 206.) FFM also paid GCOP to insureds who actually incurred such costs, even if GCOP was not initially considered necessary at the ACV stage, upon the insured's submission of documentation. (CR 11, Ex. G, ¶ 16.) When, as here, the Policy limit is at least 80% of the replacement cost, the total RCV is the smaller of: "(1) the cost to repair or replace the damage on the same premises using materials of like kind and

quality, to the extent practical; or (2) the amount spent to repair or replace the damage." (CR 11, Ex. A at 183.)¹

B. The ACV Payment

On August 8, 2016—before the Kramers had made repairs—FFM issued an ACV payment of \$11,323.76. (CR 11, Ex. B.) FFM informed the Kramers the amount represented the initial payment for the dwelling and detached garage and the final payment for the small shed (for which the maximum coverage was ACV), less the \$2,000 deductible. (CR 11, Ex. B.) FFM sent the Kramers a proof of loss form to complete after repairs were performed and instructed them to provide documentation at that time, including "paid receipts and finished pictures." (CR 11, Ex. B.)

Though unnecessary, the Kramers hired a purported "general contractor," Jon Hooley of Big Sky Contractors. (CR 11, Ex. C, p. 2.) According to the Kramers, Hooley "was looking for business after the storm and approached the Kramers." (CR 11, Ex. C, p. 5.)

Soon after the initial ACV payment was made, a dispute arose as to whether siding had been damaged by hail. (CR 11, Ex. D.) FFM ultimately agreed to

5

¹ The Kramers' shed was not subject to the Replacement Cost Terms because they selected basic coverage for that structure. Only ACV was owed. (CR 11, Ex. A at 167.)

cover the siding, and on August 1, 2018, issued a supplemental ACV payment of \$24,642.87. (CR 11, Ex. E.)

The ACV payments, in the total amount of \$35,966.63, did not include GCOP. To be clear, GCOP covers overhead and profit for general contractor services—*i.e.*, the services of a separate contractor hired to oversee and coordinate repairs. (CR 11, Ex. G, ¶ 5.) Overhead and profit for contractors is a different item and is always paid as part of the normal cost of repair. (Transcript of Proceedings – Class Action Motion Hearing, p. 26 (October 25, 2019).) Regular profit and overhead for contractors is not at issue in this case.

Because ACV is calculated before and irrespective of actual repairs, FFM initially determined whether GCOP is likely to be part of "the cost to repair or replace." (CR 11, Ex. G, ¶¶ 5-7.) In making this determination, FFM follows the industry standard of paying GCOP when the services of a general contractor are reasonably necessary. (CR 11, Ex. G, \P 5.) The Kramers agree this is the applicable standard (*Motion for Rule 23(b)(3) Class Certification and Brief in Support*, CR 7, pp. 7-8), and the District Court recognized "[t]his 'reasonably necessary' standard is widely used in the insurance industry" (App. 4 (emphasis added).).

In the Kramers' case, GCOP was not included in the ACV payments because FFM determined a general contractor was not reasonably necessary. FFM hired an

independent adjuster to evaluate the Kramers' loss and assist in making this determination. (CR 11, Ex. H, \P 11.) The determination was based on the simple nature of the repair job, the amount involved, and the manner in which similar hail damage is routinely handled in Montana. (CR 11, Ex. H, \P 11.)

In the vast majority of wind or hail claims, insureds do not hire a general contractor because the insureds are easily able to arrange the work, even if three or more trades are involved. (CR 11, Ex. G, \P 14.) A typical hail claim might involve damage to a roof, rain gutters and a window. (CR 11, Ex. G, \P 14.) Montana insureds do not have difficulty either retaining a contractor who can perform all of the work, or making arrangements with two or three separate contractors. (CR 11, Ex. G, \P 14.) No general contractor is hired to oversee and coordinate the work. (CR 11, Ex. H, \P 12.)

To illustrate the rarity of what the Kramers did in this case, during the period from 2016-2018 FFM received over 500 claims from insureds with an ultimate value of more than \$10,000, but even in these larger value claims just twelve insureds (the Kramers being one) actually retained the services of a general contractor. (CR 11, Ex. G, ¶¶ 9-10.) At the ACV stage, nothing about the Kramers' loss indicated it would be anything other than an ordinary hail loss. (CR 11, Ex. H, ¶ 11.)

Nonetheless, the Kramers argue GCOP should have been paid as ACV because of the so-called "three-trade rule." (CR 7, p. 5.) This rule would require an insurer to deem a general contractor reasonably necessary whenever three or more trades are likely to be involved on a project. (CR 7, p. 11.) However, FFM conclusively established it does not apply the three-trade rule, nor is it required to do so. (CR 11, Ex. G, ¶¶ 6-8, 22.)

FFM presented uncontroverted evidence and legal authority that the three-trade rule is not a legal requirement or industry standard in Montana. (CR 11, Ex. G, ¶ 22.) It is not required by the policy, statute, regulation or case law. (CR 11, Ex. F, ¶ 8.) While insurers may use some variation of a three-trade rule to help evaluate whether a general contractor's services are reasonably necessary, no uniform rule is accepted or mandated. (CR 11, Ex. F, ¶¶ 7-10; Ex. G, ¶¶ 6-8.)

The three-trade rule is not industry standard. Lee Richardson, a multi-line adjuster with Montana Claims Service, provided an affidavit in this case. (CR 11, Ex. F, ¶ 8.) Richardson has worked on thousands of wind and hail claims with approximately 50 different insurance companies over his nearly 30-year career. (CR 11, Ex. F, ¶ 5.) Richardson concluded FFM's practices "are consistent with the approach taken by other insurers in Montana" and "are industry standard in Montana, especially for farm mutual insurers." (CR 11, Ex. F, ¶ 6.) Richardson attested "insurers in Montana evaluate payment for general contractor profit and

overhead on a <u>case-by-case basis</u>. They do not mechanically apply a so-called 'three-trade rule.'" (CR 11, Ex. F, ¶ 8 (emphasis added).)

In summary, although FFM certainly looks at the number of trades required as a factor in determining whether a general contractor is reasonably necessary, FFM does not employ, nor is it required to employ, the three-trade rule to determine if GCOP is payable as ACV. (CR 11, Ex. G, ¶¶ 6-8.)

C. The RCV Payment

The Kramers' claim was a routine hail loss, but it was unique in at least two respects. First, it was one of only a handful of cases in which the insured unnecessarily hired a general contractor. Second, it was the <u>only</u> claim in FFM's experience in which the insured refused to provide subcontractor receipts and thus was not paid GCOP allegedly incurred as part of RCV.

Again, despite FFM's determination a general contractor was not reasonably necessary, and thus not part of ACV, FFM was ready to pay GCOP actually incurred by the Kramers as part of RCV. (CR 11, Ex. H, ¶¶ 16, 19-20.) It only needed subcontractor invoices to confirm GCOP was an actual part of the cost to repair. (CR 11, Ex. H, ¶¶ 16, 19-20.) More specifically, in these rare situations, FFM has paid GCOP as part of RCV if: (1) three or more trades were involved, (2) the general contractor actually subcontracted the work, rather than performing the work itself, and (3) invoices are submitted from subcontractors to ensure the

general contractor is seeking GCOP on the amount paid to subcontractors, rather than an artificial number that had been inflated by the general contractor. (CR 11, Ex. G, ¶ 15.) As noted previously, the Kramers' purported general contractor is the only general contractor to refuse to provide subcontractor invoices in this situation. Thus, the Kramers are the only FFM insureds to have arguably suffered any damages as a result of FFM's practice.

The Kramers decry these safeguards as unfair, but Montana has a history with general contractors taking advantage of insureds who suffer wind or hail damage. A publication from the Montana Commissioner of Securities and Insurance specifically warns Montana consumers to "[b]eware of disreputable contractors or 'storm chasers'" and notes "Montana has had many problems in recent years with people coming in from out of state to take advantage after major storms." (CR 11, Ex. G, Ex. A.)

FFM is acutely aware of these problems. In FFM's experience, individuals claiming to be "general contractors" solicit business from insureds who have suffered a wind or hail loss with the promise of negotiating a higher insurance payout. (CR 11, Ex. G, ¶ 18.) Estimates for repairs are much higher than estimates from local contractors who perform the same work. (CR 11, Ex. G, ¶ 18.) This type of contractor often represents that three or more trades will be involved in the repairs, but completes all the repairs itself. (CR 11, Ex. G, ¶ 18.)

The contractor seeks GCOP without performing the work of a general contractor, in addition to the overhead and profit normally paid to subcontractors. (CR 11, Ex. G, \P 18.)

Concerns of fraud were particularly apropos in this case. The contractor hired by the Kramers, Jon Hooley, was identified by the Montana Insurance Commissioner in a 2017 administrative proceeding as engaging in a fraudulent scheme to obtain GCOP payments from another Montana insurer. (CR 11, Ex. G, Ex. B.) The Insurance Commissioner found Hooley and his company "primarily provided false or misleading subcontractor invoices in order to receive additional funds (such as overhead and profit) from insurance claims." (CR 11, Ex. G, Ex. B, p. 1.) The agency's filing details five different hail claims and Hooley's attempt to defraud Mountain West Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Company ("Mountain West") by seeking GCOP. (CR 11, Ex. G, Ex. B, pp. 2-6.)

Notably, this administrative action arose after Mountain West, consistent with industry standard in Montana, requested subcontractor invoices. (CR 11, Ex. G, Ex. B, pp. 3-6.) After reviewing the invoices, the Montana Insurance Commissioner concluded Hooley and his company "committed at least <u>nine</u> separate acts of insurance fraud by creating and/or submitting to Mountain West false or misleading 'final' invoices that contained work that was not performed, or false or misleading invoices from subcontractors, in support of claims for payment

under insurance policies." (CR 11, Ex. G, Ex. B, p. 7, ¶ 6 (emphasis added).) In light of this history, it is perhaps no surprise FFM's request for Hooley's invoices was refused.²

On or about September 20, 2018, the Kramers submitted a "final invoice" from Big Sky Contractors to obtain the final RCV payment. (CR 11, Ex. J.) The total cost of the project came to \$55,766.70. (CR 11, Ex. J.) FFM requested subcontractor invoices in order to pay GCOP, but the Kramers refused. (CR 11, Ex. C, p. 13.) The Kramers did not even request the information from Hooley, opting instead to lay the groundwork for this lawsuit. (CR 7, p. 6, n. 13.)

D. This Lawsuit

The Kramers filed this lawsuit, a putative class action, alleging breach of contract and violations of the UTPA. The questions proposed for class certification have been a moving target. In their initial motion, the Kramers identified "two common questions of law [that] will govern resolution of the case," but after FFM established these were not the questions in dispute, the Kramers listed two different questions in their reply brief (also not the questions in dispute). (CR 7, p. 12; Reply Brief in Support of Class Certification, CR 14, p. 1.) The most significant change, however, came when the District Court identified two brand-

² The administrative action against Hooley was dismissed by stipulation on January 31, 2018. (CR 11, Ex. I.)

new questions in its certification order—questions that were never raised by the parties because they are not supported by the record. (App. 20.) A breakdown of this evolution follows:

Kramers' Opening Brief:

Here, the resolution of two common questions of law will govern the resolution of this case. First, is FFM required to pay its insureds an additional 20% for O&P at the ACV stage on covered property losses? If so, is it also required to pay them 20% for O&P on the withheld depreciation if the insureds submit proof that they have completed the repairs and FFM issues the RCV payment?

(CR 7, p. 12.)

Kramers' Reply

In this case, there are just two common questions: If RCV can include O&P when three or more trades are required, then shouldn't the ACV payment also include the O&P? And if so, when the insured completes the work, aren't they also entitled to the portion that had been held back with the depreciation?

(CR 14, p. 1.)

Order on Certification

The predominate questions present in this case are twofold: 1) whether the Defendant's policy language regarding the insurer's duty to tender GCOP payments at both the ACV and RCV stages is so ambiguous as to be unfair; and 2) whether the Defendant's claim settlement practices with regard to GCOP fees are or are not in conformance with the practices of other Montana insurers as to be in violation of the Montana Unfair Trade Practices Act.

(App. 20.)

This evolving search for a common question underscores the problem with class certification in this case. Even assuming the Kramers have viable claims, their claims implicate a highly-individualized analysis of whether a general contractor is reasonably necessary that is not appropriate for certification.

Certification would lead to a parade of distinct mini-trials that would make resolution far more difficult, rather than more efficient and economical. The District Court abused its discretion in looking past the actual issues at hand and the practical implications of class certification.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A district court's decision on a motion for class certification is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Knudsen v. Univ. of Mont.*, 2019 MT 175, ¶ 6, 396 Mont. 443, 445 P.3d 834. However, to the extent a ruling on a Rule 23 requirement is supported by a finding of fact, that finding is reviewed under the "clearly erroneous" standard. *Jacobsen v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 2013 MT 244, ¶ 25, 371 Mont. 393, 310 P.3d 452. Findings are clearly erroneous if they are not supported by substantial evidence, the court misapprehended the effect of the evidence, or this Court's review of the record convinces it that a mistake was made. *Sinram v. Berube (In re S.W.B.S.)*, 2019 MT 1, ¶ 10, 394 Mont. 52, 432 P.3d 709. Also, to the extent a ruling on a Rule 23 requirement is supported by a legal conclusion, review of that conclusion is *de novo. Jacobsen*, ¶ 25.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

To maintain a class action under Rule 23(b)(3), a plaintiff must establish that common questions predominate over individual questions and resolution as a class action is the superior method for adjudication. FFM provided uncontroverted evidence and legal authority demonstrating where a case-by-case analysis is employed to determine whether GCOP is payable, as here, predominance and superiority are lacking.

The District Court's rationale for distinguishing FFM's authority and finding Rule 23(b)(3) satisfied was based on findings of fact and law having no support in the record. No evidence was presented in the District Court that FFM applies a three-trade rule, or that its practices diverge from those of other Montana insurers. The District Court relied on inapplicable policy provisions to find a potential ambiguity, and apparently determine that the Policy does not support application of the reasonably necessary standard in calculating ACV.

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