DA 19-0682

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 19-0682

In the Supreme Court of the State of Montana

JACK KRAMER and KEN KRAMER, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs-Appellees,

v.

FERGUS FARM MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from the Montana Thirteenth Judicial District Court Yellowstone County Honorable Michael G. Moses, DV-19-0360

APPELLEES' RESPONSE BRIEF

Sean M. Morris
Jesse C. Kodadek
Martin Rogers
WORDEN THANE P.C.
321 W. Broadway, Ste. 300
Missoula, MT 59802
(406) 721-3400
smorris@wordenthane.com
jkodadek@wordenthane.com
mrogers@wordenthane.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs/Appellees

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Multiple courts have certified classes functionally identical to the class certified by the district court in this case. Those cases have two things in common with this one. First, the class established that there was at least some evidence the insurer applied or should have applied an objective standard to determine whether the repairs showed a reasonable likelihood that a general contractor would be required. Typically, that standard is the three-trade rule—the same rule that FFM admits it applies as part of its decision about whether or not to

ultimately pay GCOP. The second common feature is that certified classes have, like the Kramers, agreed to use the insurer's own loss estimates to calculate the additional GCOP that the insurer owed to each class member.

Next, the district court properly exercised its broad discretion when it found that common questions could be answered on behalf of the class and would move the case forward, whatever their answer. Each of the district court's findings about the requirements for certifying a class under Rule 23(b)(3) is supported by the record, and the court properly recognized that it did not need to—and should not—resolve the merits of all disputed facts at this stage.

ARGUMENT

Whether FFM systematically breached its insurance contracts and violated the UTPA is not the issue in this appeal. Rather, the issue is whether the resolution of common questions of law and fact will resolve the dispute on behalf of the entire class at once. The district court properly found that it will.

At the outset, it is important to recognize the principles that are not in dispute:

- The parties agree that insureds with replacement cost coverage pay a premium that includes allowances for GCOP.
- The parties agree that actual cash value is just replacement cost value less depreciation.
- The parties agree that insureds are entitled to payment for the actual cash value of the damage regardless of whether or not they complete the repairs/replacement of damaged property.

One of the fundamental questions in this case is whether the class can establish that FFM uses, or should use, some objective measure to determine whether an insured will be reasonably like to require use of a general contractor on any given loss. If the class can establish there is some objective measure, then because FFM does not pay GCOP at the front-end, all the class needs to do is show that FFM was required to pay GCOP up-front on all claims satisfying that objective measure. That would end the inquiry for the ACV class. The next step is whether FFM owes insureds the held-back portion of GCOP at the time it makes the RCV payment, thus establishing liability for the RCV class. All three questions can be answered on a class-wide basis, and the fact that there are disputes about the ultimate outcome of each question does not

⁸ The RCV class is really a subclass of the ACV class, and everyone in the RCV class will have already qualified for the ACV class.

defeat class certification, because the class will "sink or swim together" on each question. *Mattson v. Montana Power Co.*, 2012 MT 318, ¶ 38, 368 Mont. 1, 291 P.3d 1209.

I. Courts have certified functionally identical classes when, like here, there was an objective standard for whether a general contractor was reasonably necessary and the class was willing to accept the insurer's own calculations of ACV and RCV except for unpaid GCOP.

FFM's overall theme is that no court has ever certified or affirmed certification of a class in this context. That is false. Multiple other courts have affirmed certification of functionally identical classes. Those cases have two things in common with this one.

First, each of the cases recognized that the class could establish some objective measure to determine whether a general contractor would be reasonably necessary—usually the three-trade rule. See, e.g., Burgess v. Farmers Ins. Co., 151 P.3d 92, ¶ 14 (Okla. 2006); Press v. La. Cit. Fair Plan Prop. Ins., 12 So. 3d 392, 396 (La. App. 2009).

Second, those cases recognize that concerns about manageability and calculating individual damages should not defeat certification when, like here, the class agrees to use the insurer's own loss estimates to calculate damages. *Mazzocki v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Corp.*, 1

A. Evidence suggests that FFM applies a three-trade rule exactly like in other cases where GCOP classes have been certified.

In *Burgess*, the Oklahoma Supreme Court affirmed certification of a class functionally identical to the one here. *Burgess*, ¶ 1.9 *Burgess* held that class certification was proper where the "entire...theory of recovery derives from allegations that insurer systematically failed to pay" 20% GCOP "when three or more trades were anticipated in repair[.]" *Burgess*, ¶ 14. Likewise, Louisiana courts have approved certification for a class seeking 20% GCOP when "the common issue that predominates" is whether "the adjustment identifies three or more trades involved in the repairs to the damaged property." *Press*, 12 So. 3d at 396. Even without a well-defined three-trade rule, courts have held that certification was proper when the district court concluded that

_

⁹ The class definition in *Burgess* is almost identical the ACV class certified by the district court: "All Oklahoma citizens who were or are Farmers homeowners' policyholders who: (1) suffered a covered loss to their home from June 14, 1994 to the present; (2) whose loss was adjusted on an actual cash value (ACV) basis; (3) whose claim files indicate the anticipated involvement of three trades or more in the repair of the property at the time of the ACV adjustment; and (4) whose ACV adjustment did not include a 20% payment for [GCOP]."

a review of the insurer's own loss estimates could establish when a general contractor was likely to be required. *Mazzocki*, 1 A.D.3d at 14–15.

In contrast, the cases FFM relies on all have one thing in common: the class could not identify evidence that the insurer applied an objective metric to determine whether or not a general contractor would be reasonably required. So, for example, if the plaintiffs cannot show at the certification stage that the three-trade rule should apply, there might be a lack of predominance. Mills v. Foremost Ins. Co., 269 F.R.D. 663, 676 (M.D. Fla. 2010). But in Mills, the plaintiff's three-trade-rule theory of liability hinged entirely on expert witness testimony, rather than on anything the insurance company did or did not do. 269 F.R.D. at 669. Likewise, in Nat'l Sec. Fire & Cas. Co. v. DeWitt, the Alabama Supreme Court's decision turned on the conclusion that the putative class had no evidence that the three-trade rule was part of the insurer's own policy. 85 So. 3d 355, 383–84 (Ala. 2011).

Here, however, FFM admits that the three-trade rule constitutes its threshold requirement for payment of GCOP. Like in *Press*, the class allegations related to the three-trade rule are premised on the theory that FFM is misapplying its own standard. *Press*, 12 So.3d at 396

(recognizing theory of recovery "derives from the defendant's systematic failure to follow its own policies and guidelines"). Just because FFM imposes additional standards beyond the threshold three-trade inquiry does not change the fact that FFM admits that it *begins* its inquiry into GCOP with that exact question. And the legality of its additional conditions are one of the common questions the class seeks to answer.

Of course, whether the class can establish that FFM must apply an objective standard like the three-trade rule is at the heart of the merits, and neither the district court nor this Court should assess the ultimate merits question when deciding whether to certify a class. Chipman v. Nw. Healthcare Corp., 2012 MT 242, ¶ 44, 366 Mont. 450, 288 P.3d 193. But the resolution of this dispute will provide the same answer for every single member of the class, and it will move the case forward.

B. The Kramers stipulate that FFM's own records will provide objective proof of each class members' damages, just like in other GCOP class actions.

FFM's own adjusters have already prepared documents setting out the agreed ACV and RCV for each class members' structural loss.

The Kramers stipulated that those FFM-prepared calculations are the proper calculation of ACV and RCV for each class member, except for

the GCOP. And the only breach-of-contract damages the class seeks are an additional percentage of FFM's already created valuations, plus associated interest.

Based on these stipulations, if the class prevails on liability, the identity of and amount owed to each class member can be calculated with relative ease through basic forensic accounting principles using FFM's existing claims data. Other courts have affirmed certification where the class agreed to accept the insurer's own loss estimates as a measure of damages. Mazzocki, 1 A.D.3d at 14 (individualized damage assessment does not preclude certification when "amounts of unpaid profit and overhead could readily be ascertained from each member's loss estimate"). And this Court has repeatedly held follow-up inquiries into class members' individualized damages do not defeat certification where liability can be established on a class-wide basis. *Mattson*, ¶ 21; Knudsen v. Univ. of Montana, 2019 MT 175, ¶ 22, 396 Mont. 443, 445 P.3d 834.

II. The district court did not manifestly abuse its discretion when it concluded that the class satisfied each element required for certification under Rule 23(b)(3).

To certify a class under Rule 23(b)(3), the district court was

required to find that the class satisfied the four elements of Rule 23(a) and the two requirements of Rule 23(b)(3). *Mattson*, ¶ 19. FFM does not contest the first element of 23(a), which is numerosity. It therefore challenges the district court's findings as to the remaining five elements: commonality, typicality, adequacy of representation under Rule 23(a); and predominance and superiority under Rule 23(b)(3). But the district court's findings and the record support each element. The Kramers will generally address each of these elements in the same order that FFM raised them.

A. Predominance & Superiority: The district court did not manifestly abuse its discretion when it found that classwide questions about FFM's claims handling predominate over individual questions and that a class action was the superior way to resolve the controversy.

For a class action to proceed under Rule 23(b)(3), a district court must find that "questions of law or fact common to the class members predominate over any questions affecting individual members and that a class action is superior to other available methods for adjudicating their claims." *Houser*, ¶ 13. Certification is proper under these standards when the class members' claims depend on a common contention that is capable of classwide resolution. *Houser*, ¶ 13.

Rule 23(b)(3) sets out a series of factors relevant to findings of predominance and superiority, including: the class members' interests in individually controlling the prosecution or defense of separate actions; the extent and nature of any litigation concerning the controversy already begun by or against class members; the desirability or undesirability of concentrating the litigation of the claims in the particular forum; and the likely difficulties in managing a class action.

1. There is significant evidence that FFM applies the three-trade rule and the resolution of that dispute is one of the predominate questions the class seeks to answer.

The district court's findings on predominance span 8 pages, and its conclusion is based on a number of findings. First and foremost, the district court found that the class allegations "revolve[d] around the legal duty of [FFM] to include payments for GCOP to its insureds at the ACV stage of claim settlement as well as the RCV stage." App.14. The district court went on to recognize that the Kramers' claim file includes repeated references to the three-trade rule. It agreed with the Kramers that those statements by FFM "point to the prominence the number of trades involved plays in [FFM's] settlement practices and presents a factual dispute" about whether FFM truly applies a three-trade rule.

App.19.

FFM relies heavily on *DeWitt*, a case from Alabama that reversed class certification where the plaintiff alleged that the insurer should apply the three-trade rule but presented no evidence that it did.

According to FFM, *DeWitt* stands for the proposition that where an insurer presents evidence that it does not apply the three-trade rule, then certification is improper, and the Kramers "failed to cite a single case in which a class was certified where the insurer evaluated GCOP on a case-by-case basis." But *DeWitt* is distinguishable because the plaintiff did "not allege that it was [the insurer's] policy to pay GCOP when three or more trades were involved," and instead, his contention was simply that the insurer "should pay GCOP when three or more trades are involved." *DeWitt*, 85 So.3d at 382 (emphasis in original).

FFM goes on to argue that other courts have found class certification improper in similar instances, but its arguments are often misplaced. For example, take *Mee v. Safeco*, which FFM cites for the proposition that "class certification [is] improper because whether a general contractor's services were reasonably necessary was not

¹⁰ FFM's Opening Brief at 21.

resolvable by way of a 'bright line rule." But Mee stands for no such rule, and did not even address class certification. Instead, Mee reinstated the plaintiff's claims against the insurance company and remanded for further proceedings. Mee, ¶¶ 16–17.

In any event, the core of FFM's argument is that where an insurer evaluates "the necessity of a general contractor on a case-by-case basis, class certification of GCOP claims is not appropriate." But because FFM admits that it never pays GCOP at the ACV stage, its claim that it evaluates the entitlement to GCOP on a case-by-case basis at the ACV stage is either an impossibility or an admission that FFM systematically engages in illegal trade practices. Whatever the answer to that question, the district court concluded that the answer to whether FFM actually does or should apply the three-trade rule is "capable of class-wide resolution." App.20.

To be sure, FFM's arguments are not novel. The insurer in Burgess made exactly the same arguments, claiming that it did not "operate pursuant to an across-the-board pattern of underpayment of claims, but rather, made individual assessments as to the propriety of

¹¹ FFM's Opening Brief at 18.

[GCOP] payments" and therefore class certification was improper.

Burgess, ¶ 14. But the court disagreed, and taking no position on the ultimate outcome, held that whether the insurer was required to apply the three-trade rule was a question for the jury. Burgess, ¶ 16.

Here, FFM's claim that the Kramers "failed to cite a single case in which a class was certified where the insurer evaluated GCOP on case-by-case basis" requires this Court to accept that FFM actually evaluates GCOP on a case-by-case basis when substantial evidence suggests it never actually engages in that inquiry during the ACV stage. To the extent there are disputed facts about how FFM truly handles claims, those questions must be answered by a jury or by the district court, depending on what discovery reveals. Either way, the ultimate answer to that question is not before the court today, because courts are "not allowed to engage in analysis of the merits of the plaintiffs' claims in order to determine whether a class action may be maintained." *Mattson*, ¶ 61.

2. The district court was not required to resolve the factual dispute about whether or not FFM applies the three-trade rule after it recognized there was evidence that it does.

FFM alleges that the district court was "required to <u>resolve</u> the

factual dispute it claims exist" and therefore the district court was required to decide "whether FFM's emails established—contrary to all other evidence—that FFM applies the three-trade rule." But this is not what district courts are required to do when considering a motion to certify a class.

Contrary to FFM's argument, Rule 23 does not require the district court to make ultimate merits findings on every issue of disputed fact. ¹³ Rather, a district court need only find make findings relevant to whether "a particular Rule 23 requirement ha[s] been established." *Jacobsen*, ¶ 29.

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